
 
  

Board Meeting Packet 
 

April 9, 2024 
 

7:00 P.M. – Regular Board Meeting 
 
 

 
1. Agenda………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….………..Page 1-3 

2. Meeting Minutes……………………………………………..………………………………………………..………..….Page 4-8 

3. Manager’s Report…………..…….……………………………………………………….……………….……..……..Page 9-21 

4. Financials…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….Page 22-36 

5. Old Business………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..Page 37-39 

6. New Business………………………………………………………………………………………………………………Page 40-46 



 

 

 
 
 

Topic: HRD Regular Board Meeting 
Time: April 9, 2024, 07:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 

Location:  Highlands Recreation Center, 1851 Lexington Ave., San Mateo, CA  94402 
 

Board meetings are held in-person, with a Zoom participation option provided to the public as a courtesy. Public 
comment is limited to (3) minutes per person per item. The public is encouraged to participate in whatever form they 

are most comfortable. If participating remotely via Zoom, see details below: 
 
 

Topic: HRD Regular Board Meeting 
Time: Apr 9, 2024 07:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 

 
Join Zoom Meeting 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89679114472?pwd=u8L1XhWe2VQVLHYy8trsQoFxXQIjod.1 

 

Meeting ID: 896 7911 4472 

Passcode: 982799 

 
Find your local number: https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kPeuY2H5c 

 
1. Call to Order 

 

2. Review and approval of the minutes for the Regular Board Meeting on March 12, 2024 and for the Special Board 
Meeting on March 25, 2024. 
 

3. Public Forum: The public forum provides an opportunity for members of the public to speak on any item 
within the jurisdiction of the Board that is not on the agenda. When an item is not listed on the agenda, 
State law prohibits Board discussion or action. Board Members may only “briefly respond” to statements 
made and questions posed. For example, State law allows Board Members to ask questions for 
clarification and provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information. Additionally, the 
Board may also direct staff to report back and/or place a matter on a future agenda for discussion. 

 
4. Manager’s Report  

a. Administration  
b. Programming 

 
5. Financial Report 

a. Monthly Statement 
 

6. Old Business: 
 

1 of 46

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89679114472?pwd=u8L1XhWe2VQVLHYy8trsQoFxXQIjod.1


 

 

a. Discussion/Motion: General Manager Recruiter Contract 
Report: General Manager Recruitment Ad Hoc Committee of the Board 
Description: This item will be a Board review and discussion of a contract to retain the 
services of a Recruiter for the purpose of recruiting a permanent General Manager.  
Recommendation: Approve General Manager Recruitment contract, pending details from the 
Ad Hoc Committee.  

 
b. Discussion/Motion: Private Swim Lesson Instructor, Swim Team Coach & ASP Head Teacher 

Benefits/Classification Recommendations 
Report: Meg Catmull, Assistant General Manager 
Description: This item will be a Board review and discussion of the benefits classifications for 
the Private Swim Lesson Instructor, Swim Team Coach, and ASP Head Teacher positions.  
Recommendation: Approve placing the Swim Team Coach and ASP Head Teacher positions 
on a classification of RNE-3.  

 

7. New Business: 
a. Discussion: Interim General Manager Duties & Employee Out of Class Pay 

Report: Christopher Gurr, Interim General Manager 
Description: This item will be a Board review and discussion of the current employees 
receiving out-of-class pay and the division of General Manager duties. 
 

b. Discussion/Motion: Interim General Manager Invoices for Hours Exceeding 20 per Week 
Report: Christopher Gurr, Interim General Manager 
Description: This item will be a Board review and discussion of Interim General Manager 
invoices from 1/12/2024-3/24/2024 for hours worked exceeding 20 hours per week.  
Recommendation: Approve payment for additional hours worked as invoiced.  
 

 
 

8. Upcoming Meetings:  May 14 – Jun 11 – Jul 9  
 

9. Review and Payment of Bills 
a. Action: Motion to approve Expenditures 

Report: Bea Robertson, Bookkeeper 
Description: This is a routine item of the itemized bills for Board review and approval.  
Recommendation: Approve the Expenditures for March 2024 

 
10. HRD Board of Directors Announcements  

 
12.  Adjournment  

  
Written public comments can be submitted to the District prior to the meeting by emailing 
generalmanager@highlandsrec.ca.gov.  Written comments received by email prior to 3 pm on the day of the 
meeting will be forwarded to the Board prior to the meeting, made a part of the public record, and be available for 
public review at this link: https://highlandsrec.ca.gov/hrd-board-meetings. 

 

Oral public comments will be taken on each agenda item during the meeting, subject to a limit of three (3) 
minutes per person per item. To comment orally in real time during the meeting, you may raise your hand if you 
are participating in person or use the Zoom “raise hand” function on your computer screen or the *9 function 
on your phone.  Please note that the District provides a Zoom participation option to the public as a courtesy in 
order to facilitate participation.  The District cannot, however, guarantee the adequacy of the audio/video 

2 of 46

mailto:admin@highlandsrec.ca.gov
https://highlandsrec.ca.gov/hrd-board-meetings


 

 

quality or that meeting participation will be uninterrupted via Zoom.  If technical difficulties arise relating to the 
Zoom participation option, the Board meeting may continue with public attendance in person only. 

 
Board Meetings are accessible to people with disabilities. Individuals who need special assistance or disability-related 
modification or accommodation (including auxiliary aids or services) to participate in this meeting; or who have a 
disability and wish to request an alternative format for the agenda, meeting notice, agenda packet or other writings 
that may be distributed at the meeting, should contact the Board Secretary at generalmanager@highlandsrec.ca.gov. 
Notification in advance of the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable arrangements to ensure 
accessibility to this meeting and the materials related to it. Public records that relate to any item on the open session 
agenda for a regular board meeting are available for public inspection. Those records that are distributed less than 72 
hours prior to the meeting are available for public inspection at the same time they are distributed to all members, or 
a majority of the members of the Board. The Board has designated the office of the Highlands Recreation District, 
located at 1851 Lexington Ave, for the purpose of making those public records available for inspection. The agenda, 
meeting notice, agenda packet and other writings distributed to the Board in connection with this meeting are also 
available for public review at this link: https://highlandsrec.ca.gov/hrd-board-meetings. 

 

3 of 46

mailto:generalmanager@highlandsrec.ca.gov
https://highlandsrec.ca.gov/hrd-board-meetings


 

 

 
 
 

Topic: HRD Regular Board Meeting 
Time: March 12, 2024, 07:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 

Location:  Highlands Recreation Center, 1851 Lexington Ave., San Mateo, CA  94402 (Multi-Purpose Room) 
Remote Teleconference Location: 11020 Weyburn Avenue, Room 3345, Los Angeles, CA 

 
Board meetings are held in-person, with a Zoom participation option provided to the public as a courtesy. The public 

is encouraged to participate in whatever form they are most comfortable. If participating remotely via Zoom, see 
details below: 

 
 

Topic: HRD Regular Board Meeting 
Time: Mar 12, 2024, 07:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 

 
Join Zoom Meeting 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/85288580562?pwd=QLWjMz4MI32b73RZ4pOZt7bwUhaBlg.1 
 

Meeting ID: 852 8858 0562 
Passcode: 068657 

 
Find your local number: https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kPeuY2H5c 

 
Board Members:    Staff: 
Andrew Aquino (Vice President) - Absent Christopher Gurr (Interim General Manager) 
Shirin Bakhshay - Remote   Meg Catmull (Assistant General Manager) 
Pam Merkadeau (President)   Mike Koenig (K-8 Childcare Director) 
Eric Olbekson     Julie Fernandez (EEC Director) 
Uy Ut                       Janelle Slightam (Aquatics Coordinator) 
      Julia Fior (Recreation Coordinator) 
 

1. Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm by President Merkadeau.  
 

2. Review and Approval of Minutes  
Board Member Olbekson made a motion, Board Member Ut second, to approve the Regular Board Meeting 
Minutes from 02/13/2024. The motion passed. 
Vote: AA - Absent; SB - Abstain; PM – Y; EO – Y; UU – Y 

 
3. Public Forum:  

Public comment was received.  
 

4. Manager’s Report  
a. Administration 

4 of 46



 

 

b. Programming 
 

5. Financial Report 
a. Monthly Statement 

 
6. Old Business 

a. Discussion: TK for All impacts and considerations for HRD 
 
 

b. Discussion/Motion: RNE-3 Benefits Classification 
i. Board Member Ut made a motion, Board Member Bakhshay second, to create RNE-3 Benefits 

Classification with proposed benefits of Medical, Dental, Vision, LTD, STD, FSA, Accidental Death 
& Disability, and Life Insurance effective April 1, 2024.  The motion passed. 
Vote: AA - Absent; SB - Y; PM – Y; EO – N; UU – Y 
 

c. Discussion: Determine additional Ad Hoc and Standing Committees of the Board 
 
 

d. Discussion: Ad Hoc General Manager Recruitment Committee Updates and Recommendations 
 

7. New Business 

a. Discussion: Insurance and deposit for Highlands community rental groups 
 
 

8. Upcoming Meetings:  Mar 24 – Apr 9 – May 14 – Jun 11 

 
9. Review and Payment of Bills 

a. Action: Motion to approve Expenditures 
i. Board Member Olbekson made a motion, Board Member Ut second, to pay the bills. The motion 

passed. 
Vote: AA - Absent; SB – Abstain; PM – Y; EO – Y; UU – Y 

 
 

10. HRD Board of Directors Announcements 
 

11. Adjournment  
Board Member Ut made a motion, Board Member Olbekson second, to adjourn the meeting. The motion 
passed.  
Vote: AA – Absent; SB – Y; PM – Y; EO – Y; UU –  

 
The Meeting adjourned at 9:06 pm. 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Meg Catmull 
Board Secretary 
 
 
Board President or Vice President:  _________________________________________________ 
 
Signature:  _____________________________________________________________________ 

5 of 46



 

 

 
 
 

Topic: HRD Strategy Session Special Meeting 
Time: March 24, 2024 12:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 

Location:  1851 Lexington Ave., San Mateo, CA  94402 
 

Board meetings are held in-person, with a Zoom participation option provided to the public as a courtesy. The public 
is encouraged to participate in whatever form they are most comfortable. If participating remotely via Zoom, see 

details below: 
 
 

Topic: HRD Strategy Session Meeting 
Time: Mar 24, 2024 12:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 

 

 

Join Zoom Meeting 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89200520364?pwd=x8GdyN3zOgUkfVjAKIbANl2YkEBlMv.1 

 

Meeting ID: 892 0052 0364 

Passcode: 495443 

 
Dial by your location 
+1 669 444 9171 US 

         
Find your local number: https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kc8BX3SN8z 

 
Board Members:    Staff: 
Andrew Aquino (Vice President)   Christopher Gurr (Interim General Manager) 
Shirin Bakhshay     Meg Catmull (Assistant General Manager) 
Pam Merkadeau (President)     
Eric Olbekson     
Uy Ut                   
 

1. Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order at 12:07pm by President Merkadeau.  
 

 
2. Introduction of Guests 

No guests present.  
 

3. Communications, Announcements & Public Comments:  
No public comments were received.  

 

6 of 46

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89200520364?pwd=x8GdyN3zOgUkfVjAKIbANl2YkEBlMv.1


 

 

 

4. New Business 

a. Discussion: Organizational Strategy  
 

b. Discussion/Motion: EEC Assistant Director Pay Range & Job Description 
i. Board Member Aquino made a motion, Board Member Olbekson second, to approve increasing 

the EEC Assistant Director pay range from $25.00-$30.00/hour to $32.00-$38.00/hour.  The 
motion passed unanimously. 
Vote: AA - Y; SB - Y; PM – Y; EO – Y; UU – Y 

 
c. Discussion/Motion: Amend/Extend Christopher Gurr Interim General Manager Contract 

i. Board Member Olbekson made a motion, Board Member Aquino second, to amend and extend 
Christopher Gurr’s Interim General Manager contract through 7/1/2024 not to exceed 30 hours 
per week without authorization from the Board President.  The motion passed unanimously. 
Vote: AA - Y; SB - Y; PM – Y; EO – Y; UU – Y 

 
d. Discussion/Motion: General Manager Recruiter Contract 

i. No motion was made.  
 

e. Discussion/Motion: Reclassify Bookkeeper Position to Fulltime RNE-1 
i. Board Member Olbekson made a motion, Board Member Bakhshay second, to approve 

reclassifying the bookkeeper position to fulltime RNE-1.  The motion passed unanimously. 
Vote: AA - Y; SB - Y; PM – Y; EO – Y; UU – Y 
 

f. Discussion/Motion: Private Swim Lesson Instructor, Swim Team Coach & ASP Head Teacher 
Benefits/Classification Recommendations 

i. No motion was made.  
 

g. Discussion: Report from Interim General Manager on First 90 Days Insights 
*For the good of the order, item #4.g was moved after item #3* 

 
h. Discussion: Board’s Vision for the District 

i. The matter was tabled.  
 

i. Discussion: Organizational Goal Setting through FY24-25 
i. The matter was tabled.  

 
j. Discussion: 3 to 5 Year Planning 

i. The matter was tabled.  
 

k. Discussion: Plan for next strategy meeting(s) 
i. The matter was tabled.  

 
 

5. Adjournment  
Board Member Aquino made a motion, Board Member Ut second, to adjourn the meeting. The motion passed.  
Vote: AA – Y; SB – Absent; PM – Y; EO – Absent; UU – Y 

 
The Meeting adjourned at 4:07pm. 

 
 

7 of 46



 

 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Meg Catmull 
Board Secretary 
 
 
Board President or Vice President:  _________________________________________________ 
 
Signature:  _____________________________________________________________________ 

8 of 46



                               MEMORANDUM 

Date:   April 9, 2024 

To:   HRD Board of Directors 

From:  Christopher Gurr, Interim General Manager 

Re:  General Manager’s Report 

 

Update 

• There was a substantial Public Records Act request that is in the process of being 
delivered, however this request has and will take up valuable time away from other 
district business.   

• Breakroom – initially we were considering building an ADU behind EEC to 
accommodate a breakroom and storage ($30K roughly), however we are now 
looking into alternatives including using the storage room next to the fitness room.  
The room is 11 x 8ft, has electrical, a window and a water line.  This would be the 
most cost-effective and quickest way of providing a breakroom for both EEC and 
administrative staff.  The room would need to be painted, new flooring and furniture 
purchased. The only challenge will be to find or build additional storage to 
accommodate the items in this room. 

• Records Retention Policy – we have started this process including meetings with 
Counsel.  First steps are to find out what types of records are currently being kept, 
classifications of documents, what are the legal time periods different documents 
need to be kept for. District Counsel has provided a recommendation to complete a 
comparison of the District policy against the California Secretary of State 
Guidelines for record retention; this process has been started. As part of this 
project, we are looking to move to digitally storing many District Records.   

• Administrative staff time tracking – the administrative team have started to track 
what percentage of each day was spent for each department (ASP, EEC, Aquatics, 
Rental/Seasonal Programs, Other/District business). 

9 of 46



Board of
Directors

General
Manager

Assistant
General Manager

Bookkeeper Administrative
Coordinator

Administrative
Assistant

Recreation
Coordinator

Maintenance
Manager

K-8 Childcare
Director

EEC Director

ASP Coordinator
EEC Assistant

Director
Aquatics

Coordinator

Aquatics
Supervisor

Swim
Instructors &

Lifeguards

Head
Lifeguards

Swim Team
Coach

ASP Head
Teachers

EEC
Teachers

Rec
Leaders

Highlands
Recreation District
Organization Chart

3/26/2024

10 of 46



                               MEMORANDAUM 

Date:   April 9, 2024 

To:  Chris Gurr, Interim General Manager  

From:   Mike Koenig, K-8th Child Care Director  

Re:   ASP/IC Program Update 

 

 

CURRENT PROGRAM UPDATES 

• Overall, the program is tracking as it should through 75% of budget year.  Nothing to report.  

• ASP/In-Crowd registration reached capacity for the 2024-2025 school year and there are three 
families on the waitlist.  From this point on, interested parties will be placed on our waitlist until 
space becomes available.  Both ASP and In-Crowd are currently at 100% of capacity.                
(ASP capacity 86/ In-Crowd capacity 15)                      

• The program recently concluded the second round of ASP Coordinator interviews.  The second 
round consisted of one internal candidate and two external candidates.  One of the two external 
candidates dropped out prior to the interview.               

• Registration for Spring Camp 2024 is currently in progress and slowly gaining traction as we get 
closer.  Spring Camp runs April 1-5.  The program will be bringing in a video game truck for the 
kids.    

• Summer Camp is now on the horizon.  Registration for Summer Camp began on March 11 for 
residents and March 18 for non-residents.  Summer Camp will be 8 weeks in total for 2024.     

• The program received notice from two ASP Rec Leaders who will be relocating with their family 
out of the area.  Jason and Madi have been working for the District since August 2021.  Their last 
day with ASP will be April 12.  Program staff do not have replacements for these staff at this 
time.  

• As the program moves into the final three months of the budget year, Program staff will be 
looking to make purchases earmarked for this fiscal year.  Program staff will also be looking 
ahead to the 2024-2025 budget year to freshen up program equipment/furniture not budgeted 
for this current year.  

 
 
ADMIN OFFICE DECK & STAIRS UPDATE  

• The building permit for admin office deck and stairs change order has been approved.  The 
permit has been signed and returned to the planning/building department.  Staff reached out to 
Escon to update them on the situation and get a timeline for their return.  Staff were informed 
that they are currently on another job and will schedule us accordingly. At this point, the 

11 of 46



remaining work includes pouring a concrete footing and installing a support beam in the fitness 
center as well as reinstalling mirrors.  To date, the District has paid Escon $101,703.14 of the 
total project amount of $107,055.94.  The remaining 5% retention ($5,352.80) will be paid upon 
satisfactory completion of all work.       

 
   
LANDSLIDE UPDATE  

• The FEMA grant project is continuing along as directed by FEMA and the districts appointed Cal 
OES representative.  Staff continue to work with Districts designated Cal OES representative to 
submit all supporting documentation.  Disaster code (DR-4683), which consists of culvert 
damage, electrical panel damage, and sports court landslide, has been obligated and the third 
and final payment of $7,342.82 is processing. At the time of this report, the district has received 
$7,151.25 of the total FEMA grant amount of $14,494.07.  Staff had a zoom call with BKF Project 
Manager Jason Yee on April 2.  Jason informed staff that the construction documents are 65% 
complete and he presented their progress (see attached 65% draft set).  Draft should be 100% 
complete in the next 2-3 weeks.  Once complete, the District may choose to re-engage BKF for 
construction administration.  Summary of attached draft set is as follows: 

• Sports Court Landslide – 10 concrete stitch piers every 6ft.  Each concrete pier will be dug down 
to bedrock.  These tiers will be flush with the ground at the surface and connected together for 
stability. No underground drainage is needed.  

• Kids Bathroom Landslide – Concrete retaining wall.  Four feet of the concrete wall will be above 
ground and drainage will be placed at bottom of wall.  The piers will be graded down to bedrock.  
Beyond the wall, the dirt will be regraded to the proper slope for drainage into existing culvert.  
Staff is working with BKF to get a quote on a wood retaining wall to match existing walls and 
possibly reduce cost.    

 
  

RISKS/OPPORTUNITIES 

• The program is currently hiring for Summer Camp positions.  To date, the program has 
commitments from three previous summer staff.  

 
 
UPCOMING EVENTS 

• Summer Camp prep/advertising  

• CPR/First Aid certification training  

• Rehiring seasonal staff and hiring ASP staff 

12 of 46



                               MEMORANDUM 

Date: April 10, 2024 

To: Chris Gurr, Interim General Manager 

From:  Daniel Ryken, Aquatics Supervisor 

Re:  Aquatics Program Update 

 

 

Program Updates 

1. Lap Swim and Recreational Swimming 

• With the better weather, we anticipate increased usage over the next month. The 

department will be introducing a season pass in May for residents and non-

residents to help promote more summer use. Season will run from Memorial Day 

weekend to Labor Day weekend.  

2. Swim Lessons 

• All spring swim lessons are filled, and we are looking to add sections where we can. 

Summer lessons are about half filled, and we expect to be fully booked by summer.  

• We are bringing back at least 2 returning instructors in May, as well as hiring one 

more. Between returning and new staff, we should be set to have enough staff for 

swim lessons this summer.  

3. Swim Team 

• Our pre competitive swim lesson class is becoming more popular as parents are 

looking for swim lessons that will lead to a successful swim team try out. It has 

grown from 7 students in January to over 16 students currently.  

 

4. New Programs 

• We are now offering adult private lessons on Monday and Wednesday nights. 

Lessons are 45 minutes long from 6:45pm to 7:30pm. The time is designed to be 

better for most adults.  

5. Pool Visits 

• The department has a phone appointment with RS and M design on Monday, April 

8th at 11:30am to gather more information and set up a site visit.  

• This past month I visited the Timpany center in San Jose. The pool is a collaboration 

between the San Jose State Kinesiology Department and Santa Clara County. I 

visited for two reasons. The first was to see, first hand, how their pool is set up, as 

all programs at the Timpany center are designed for improved access for those that 

13 of 46



are differently abled. I saw some features that we might want to incorporate into a 

pool remodel. The second reason was to learn about the resurfacing that was done 

to the pool last year. The cost was about 1.5 million dollars and was funded by Santa 

Clara County.  

6. Pool Events 

• The underwater egg hunt hosted 20 kids and was a fun event, even despite weather 

that was inconsistent. It’s a fun event for the pool and will always be a part of our 

yearly offerings.  

 

Upcoming Events 

• Lifeguarding Class April 26th, 27th and May 4 

• May- Water safety month! 

• Memorial Day Hours (May 27) - 10am to 3pm (Lap Swim and Recreational Swim) 

 

 

14 of 46



                               MEMORANDUM 

Date: April 9, 2024 

To: HRD Board of Directors 

From: Julie Fernandez, Early Education Center Director 

Re: EEC Program Update 

Current Program Updates 

• EEC staff had a successful professional development day on March 29th.  
o They reorganized the storage closets, sheds, classrooms, and kitchen.  
o This helped to assess what we have in order to improve classroom environments 

and to provide engaging experiences for the students. 
o The overall morale of our teachers is high. The feedback from the teachers was well 

received. 
• The EEC director reorganized files to ensure that student and staff files were following 

licensing requirements. 
• All classroom teacher positions are filled. We are still in the process of recruitment for an 

Assistant Director. 
• The EEC director attended the EEC Parent Association meeting on April 1st and was able to 

answer questions they had about the program.   

Fiscal Impacts  

• The EEC was awarded a $2275 grant from the Quality Counts (QRIS) program. The money 
will be used to address any repairs needed for the EEC as well as to replace any furniture 
needed. 

2023-2024 School Year Enrollment 

• At the time of this report, we have one child leaving the program at the end of May. They will 
be attending TK in the fall.  

• There are currently 7 children enrolled in the Monkeys. 
• One child will be transitioning from the Monkeys to the Tigers room in May and we will have 

2 new Monkey students starting in May to bring the number back to 8.  
• The Chameleon room had a new child start this April, bringing their total to 16. 

15 of 46



• The Tiger’s room currently has 15 children enrolled, although there are currently 2 planned 
transitions happening in the next couple of months from children aging out of the Monkeys 
class.   

2024-2025 School Year Enrollment 

• The majority of the currently enrolled will return next school year. We have 4 children 
attending TK and 4 Children leaving to attend kindergarten.  

• There are still 4 families who are pending re-enrollment due to just joining the program as 
early as February. They have just been given the 2024-2025 Admission Agreement 

• There are several potential families from the waiting list that we are reaching out to for 
2024-2025 enrollment.  

Upcoming Important Dates 

• April 8th-April 12th, The EEC will be celebrating The Week of The Young Child with daily 
special activities for the children. 

16 of 46



                               STAFF REPORT 

Date: April 4, 2024 

To: Christopher Gurr, General Manager and Meg Catmull, Assistant General Manager 

From: Julie Fernandez, EEC Director 

Re:  Early Education Center 2024-2025 tuition proposal 

 

 

BACKGROUND: 
Each year in preparation for EEC Fall registration, District staff develop a tuition proposal that compares 
the EEC tuition to what other centers charge in the area and accounts for any increased costs of 
operating for the upcoming fiscal year and school year. Earlier this year it was communicated to the 
current EEC families in their re-registration paperwork that the tuition would not increase more than 6% 
for the 2024-2025 School Year. A comprehensive analysis of program costs, comparable current tuition 
rates (as well as some new school year rates) and a review of current trends in the area has been 
conducted to determine the 2024-25 EEC tuition rates.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
This report summarizes the tuition rate proposal for the 2024-2025 fiscal year. In anticipation of the 
increased cost of living and inflation rate, I propose a tuition increase of 4% for preschool and 5% for 
infants for the next fiscal year based on 2023-2024 tuition rates. This amount will allow the EEC to 
operate at 100% or greater cost recovery.  
 
The 2024-2025 EEC budget assumptions include increase at an estimated 3-5%:  

● Increase in utility cost 
● Increase in employee benefit cost  
● Increase in supply cost 
● Increase in staff wages  

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
The EEC Director is recommending to the General Manager that the EEC implement a 4% tuition 
increase for preschool and 5% tuition increase for infants. This tuition rate accounts for an increase in 
costs due to inflation and cost of living increases for staff. This recommendation is in line with market 
rates and does not exceed the 6% increase boundary that was communicated to parents. There is no 
recommendation for an increase to EEC registration fees for the 2024-2025 School Year.  
 
 
 

17 of 46



 
Tuition comparison to other centers 2023-2024 Rates 
 
 

Schools Hours Hours Per Day Closures Monthly Tuition 

HRD EEC Infant 7:30-6:00 10.5 16 $2837 (Res) 

HRD EEC Preschool 7:30-6:00 10.5 16 $2591 (Res) 

Chai 8-5 9 25 $2693 

Serendipity 7:30-6 10.5 30 $2900 

Merry Moppet 8:00-5:00 9 23 $2700 

Happy Campers PreK 8:00-5:30 9.5 26 $2350 

Happy Campers Infant 8:00-5:30 9.5 26 $2975 

PJCC 3’s 8:00-6:00 10 36 $3125 (2024-2025 rate) 

PJCC Infant 8:00-6:00 10 36 $3498 (2024-2025 rate) 

Kids Konnect, BunkerHill 
(2-6yrs) 

7:30-6:00 10.5 15 $2290 
$150 potty training fee 

Bay Meadows 
Kindercare 

6:30-6:00 12.5 10 $795/week Infants ~3,445 
$745/week two’s ~3,228 

Bright Horizons 
Papillion and San Mateo 

8:00-6:00 10 9 $3970 infant 
$3415 two’s 

Little Bloom  8:00-5:30  9.5 $2870 Infant 
$2545 2+ 

 
Recommended Tuition Chart 
 

2023-2024 EEC Monthly Rates 
Effective July 1, 2024 

Resident Non-Resident 

Infant Program  $2837 $3092 

Toddler Program $2591 $2834 

 
 

2024-2025 EEC Monthly Rates 
Effective July 1, 2024 

Resident Non-Resident 

Infant Program (5% increase) $2979 $3276 

Toddler Program (4% increase) $2695 $2964 

 
 

18 of 46



 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

 24-25 Fiscal Year 

4% PreK 5% Infant  

8 Infant/36 PreK 

Expenditures at a 4% increase 
$1,092,368 

Revenues (Full Enrollment at Resident 

Rate) $1,450,224 

Net Income $357,856 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year  Infants  Change Percent  Preschool  Change Percent 

2020-2021 $2381 - - $2175 - - 

2021-2022 $2524 $143 6% $2306 $131 6% 

2022-2023 $2701 $177 7% $2468 $162 7% 

2023-2024  $2837 $136 5% $2591 $123 5% 

2024-2025 
(Resident) 

$2979 $142 5% $2695 $104 4% 

19 of 46



 
MEMORANDAUM  

Date: April 3, 2024 
To: Christopher Gurr, Interim General Manager 
From: Julia Fior, Recreation Coordinator  
Re: Seasonal Programs and Rentals Update-April 2024 

 
EVENTS 

• The Highlands Senior Network had one planned event in March. On March 21 the HSN 
group planned a lunch outing to Harry’s Hofbrau for a late St. Patrick’s Day Celebration. 
They did not request transportation assistance from the Rec. 

o On April 18, the HSN will have a potluck in the Rec MPR. 

• The HRD Eggstravaganza was March 23, 2024 from 10:00am-12:00pm. Overall, there were 202 

paid attendees; with an estimate of 30-40 attendees that were 2 or under, a fair estimate for 

total attendance was around 240 people. This seems to be similar to previous years' attendance, 

though slightly lower partially due to weather. 

o The event overall felt successful, though the Rec Coordinator has made notes to 

improve on for next year. 

▪ For the future, it would be best to move the breakfast portion back into the 

Gym, especially if rain is forecasted. It allows for less crowding of the MPR, 

especially with ever changing Spring weather. 

▪ The Rec Coordinator also scouted out other local Easter events for ideas for 

future years. Expanding the volunteers base to add in low-cost options like: 

temporary tattoo both, Easter themed games, etc. would allow for the event to 

offer more to the community in the future, while also targeting local students 

reaching their volunteer requirements. 

o A big thank you to all staff, board members, and volunteers that assisted to pull of the 

event! It wouldn’t have been possible without everyone. 

CLASSES 

• The Highlands Theater program is ongoing through the end of April. Per the school’s request, 

ticket sales will be open for the showings will open when students return from Spring Break, the 

week of April 8. 

o 47 students are registered for the Highlands Theater program, which is a significant 

jump from the previous year’s 37 students. 

o Showings will be April 25, 26, and 27. Each show typically ranges about 100 people per 

show. 

20 of 46



• Spring Classes begin the week of April 8. With so many students enrolled in Theater, 

registrations for other classes are lower than usual for Session 1 classes. This is expected to shift 

with Session 2 of Spring classes, which begins after Theater is over. 

• Enrichment Summer Camp enrollments are also coming in. The Rec Coordinator is looking for 

new ways to boost advertisement and enrollments for these programs. 

o Other virtual outlets are being used to advertise camps, such as “virtual” summer camp 

sites. These sites have been used previously to list weekly Enrichment camps. 

o In-person options like advertising at Summer Camp expos or local farmers markets are 

also looked into. 

• Registration for both Residents and Non-Residents is open for both Spring and Summer 

programs.  

o Paper copies of the Activity Guide hit mailboxes in mid-March and extra copies are 

available on HRD campus. 

• Fall Activity Guide planning begins in April. We are currently in discussion with how to bring in 

more/different sports vendors to target a deficit in Sports Programming at the Rec. 

 
RENTALS 
March had 43 Rentals, including: 
5 Private Rentals 
4 Scuba Rentals 
5 Dance Gym Rentals 
4 Dance MPR Rentals (add-on for this month) 
6 Scout Rentals 
1 Swim Team Rental 
8 Basketball Recurring Rentals 
1 Blood Drive Rental 
5 Synchronized Swim Rentals (Diving Well Only) 
2 Private Diving Well Rentals 
2 Pool Parties, 1 was rescheduled due to weather. 
 
April currently has 39 rentals scheduled between the pool and regular facilities. 

 

21 of 46



22 of 46



23 of 46



24 of 46



25 of 46



26 of 46



27 of 46



28 of 46



29 of 46



30 of 46



31 of 46



32 of 46



33 of 46



34 of 46



35 of 46



36 of 46



                               MEMORANDUM 

Date:   April 9, 2024 

To:   HRD Board of Directors 

From:  Meg Catmull, Assistant General Manager 

Re:  General Manager Recruiter Contract  

 

BACKGROUND: 
The District has been operating with an interim part time General Manager since January 12, 2024. 
At the January 9, 2024 Regular Board meeting, the Board designated Board Members Aquino and Ut 
to a General Manager Recruitment Ad Hoc Committee. At the February 13, 2024 Regular Board 
Meeting, the Board of Directors authorized the Interim General Manager to hire a recruiter for the 
purpose of recruiting a new General Manager.  
 
The job posting deadline has been extended to April 30, 2024.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
If negotiations with the Recruiter and General Manager Recruitment Ad Hoc Committee have been 
successful, the committee will present a contract for the Board to review at the April 9, 2024 
Regular Board Meeting.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Unknown- pending contract negotiations.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
The recommendation may be presented at the April 9, 2024 Regular Meeting, pending the General 
Manager Recruitment Ad Hoc Committee of the Board.  
 
 

37 of 46



                               MEMORANDUM 

Date:   April 9, 2024 

To:   HRD Board of Directors 

From:  Meg Catmull, Assistant General Manager 

Re:  Private Swim Lesson Instructor, Swim Team Coach & ASP Head Teacher 
Benefits/Classification Recommendations  

 
BACKGROUND 
At the Regular Board of Directors Meeting on March 12, 2024 the Board approved a new Benefits 
Classification of RNE-3 for employees whose positions may not be classified as full-time but who 
work an average of more than 30 hours per week. The roles/employees currently not classified as 
full-time but who have recently been working an average of more than 30 hours per week are the 
Private Swim Lesson Instructor, Swim Team Coach, Bookkeeper and ASP Head Teachers. 
Information on the bookkeeper classification and recommendations was contained in a separate 
memorandum.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
Private Swim Lesson Instructor- A review and evaluation of duties and hours has been completed 
and this employee is scheduled for approximately 25 hours per week on an ongoing basis which 
would not meet the requirements for the RNE-3 classification. Retaining this staff member could 
be a challenge in the coming months as medical benefits are important to this employee.  
 
Swim Team Coach- Due to CA Labor Law, the employee is unable to be reclassified as a contractor 
at this stage. A review and evaluation of duties and hours has been completed and given the hours 
for swim practices and swim meets, the employee will maintain RNE-3 benefits and status when 
applicable if they work an average of more than 30 hours per week, per the policy. In conversations 
with the employee, they have expressed that keeping benefits, especially medical benefits, is 
something that is important to them.  
 
ASP Head Teachers- The department is being directed to reduce the number of head teachers 
working 30+ hours per week down from three to two for the 2024-2025 School Year which is 
anticipated to meet the needs of the program. The program does benefit from having two staff 
members who are able to consistently work a higher number of hours as this aids in the pickup of 
kindergarten children from the school and coverage during full-day camps. These two staff 
members would receive benefits per the RNE-3 policy, should they continue to maintain an average 
of 30+ hours per week. 

38 of 46



 RECOMMENDATION: 
The recommendation is to allow the Swim Team Coach and ASP Head Teachers (as needed and as 
applicable- see discussion items above) to qualify as RNE-3. There is an additional 
recommendation to allow the private swim lesson instructor to qualify as RNE-3 should a staffing 
need arise for more than 30 hours per week of private swim lessons that the District is otherwise 
unable to staff.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Approximate Annual Cost of RNE-3 Classified Employee Benefits* 

Medical  $4,800-$15,000 

Dental  $684.24 

Vision  $72.48 

Life   $54.00 

A D & D   $21.60 

STD  $220-$320 

LTD  $110-$200 

Total  $6,000-$16,352.32 

*Per year, per RNE-3 employee 
 

 
Annual RNE-3 Benefits Costs Per Employee Elections 

Department Private Lesson 
Instructor 

ASP Head 
Teacher 

ASP Head 
Teacher 

ASP Head 
Teacher 

Swim Team 
Coach 

Medical  Benefits Termed  $                -     $   5,851.92   $    6,489.84   $    6,489.84  

Dental   $                -     $                -     $        684.24   $        684.24  

Vision   $                -     $         72.48   $          72.48   $                 -    

Life    $         54.00   $         54.00   $          54.00   $          54.00  

A D & D    $         21.60   $         21.60   $          21.60   $          21.60  

STD   $      306.96   $      271.56   $        227.28   $        306.96  

LTD   $      151.44   $      133.92   $        112.08   $        151.44  

Total    $   534.00  $   6,405.48   $ 7,661.52   $ 7,708.08  
 
 
 
 

39 of 46



                               MEMORANDUM 

Date:   April 9, 2024 

To:   HRD Board of Directors 

From:  Christopher Gurr, Interim General Manager 

Re:  Interim General Manager Duties & Employee Out of Class Pay 

 

BACKGROUND 
The Highlands Recreation District permanent General Manager position became vacant in January 
2024. As a result of this vacancy, the Board retained an Interim General Manager on a part-time 
basis. At the January Regular Board Meeting, the HRD Board of Directors directed the Interim 
General Manager to grant out-of-class pay in the amount of $750 per pay period to two senior staff 
members to provide additional assistance with General Manager duties during the interim period.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
After reviewing the out-of-class pay, it is my recommendation that Mike Koenig’s out-of-class pay 
be terminated with an effective date of 4/9/2024.  The reason behind this is that the stairs project is 
95% complete, permits have been issued and we are just waiting for the contractor to finish the 
work.  The 2 slide projects (sports court and ASP bathrooms) are both progressing; however, this 
will take months with little work at times to justify this extra pay.  The IGM and AGM can cover any 
extra workload needed.   
 
As for Megan Catmull, AGM, it is my recommendation to keep the out-of-class pay the same as 
additional duties are still being assigned and completed.  Meg additional duties include reducing 
IGM’s workload, records retention policy update, job description approvals issue, EEC Director 
recruitment, preliminary budget documents for supervisors, CAPRI renewal, reviewing and 
assisting with audit documentation to name a few.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
$750 per pay period reduction 

40 of 46



                               MEMORANDUM 

Date:   April 9, 2024 

To:   HRD Board of Directors 

From:  Meg Catmull, Assistant General Manager 

Re:  Christopher Gurr Interim General Manager Contract  

 

BACKGROUND 
Christopher Gurr is currently working as the District’s Interim General Manager on a contractual 
basis. The current contract was approved by the Board of Directors at the January 12, 2024 Special 
Board Meeting. That contract was for a 90-day period working up to 20 hours per week at 
$140/hour.  
 
DISCUSSION 
The IGM has worked additional hours over the 20 hour limit as per the January 12, 2024 contract 
due to unforeseen urgent district business.  The invoices have not been paid. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
As the new contract has increased the hours the IGM can work, it is recommended that the board 
approve the invoices for additional hours up to the beginning of the new/amended contract. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1: Christopher Gurr Additional Hours Invoices 

41 of 46



INVOICE FOR SERVICES RENDERED

Number: GURR073a

Date: 2/16/2024

Net: 15

FROM: Christopher Gurr BILL TO:

Address: Highlands Recrational District

1752 Yorktown Road 1851 Lexington Ave.

San Mateo, CA  94402 San Mateo CA 94402

Tel: 650 346 8155

From Description Hours Rate Amount

2/12 Interim General Manager Consulting Addistional Hours 0 140 0

2/13 Interim General Manager Consulting Addistional Hours 0 140 0

2/14 Interim General Manager Consulting Addistional Hours 2 140 280

2/15 Interim General Manager Consulting Addistional Hours 6 140 840

2/16 Interim General Manager Consulting Addistional Hours 6 140 840

General & Professional Liability Insurance
0 0.00 0.00

0.00

TOTAL 14 1,960.00       

42 of 46



INVOICE FOR SERVICES RENDERED

Number: GURR075a

Date: 3/1/2024

Net: 15

FROM: Christopher Gurr BILL TO:

Address: Highlands Recrational District

1752 Yorktown Road 1851 Lexington Ave.

San Mateo, CA  94402 San Mateo CA 94402

Tel: 650 346 8155

From Description Hours Rate Amount

2/26 Interim General Manager Consulting 0 140 0

2/27 Interim General Manager Consulting 0 140 0

2/28 Interim General Manager Consulting 0 140 0

2/29 Interim General Manager Consulting 2 140 280

3/1 Interim General Manager Consulting 4 140 560

General & Professional Liability 

Insurance

0 0.00 0.00

0.00

TOTAL 6 840.00                     

43 of 46



INVOICE FOR SERVICES RENDERED

Number: GURR076a

Date: 3/1/2024

Net: 15

FROM: Christopher Gurr BILL TO:

Address: Highlands Recrational District

1752 Yorktown Road 1851 Lexington Ave.

San Mateo, CA  94402 San Mateo CA 94402

Tel: 650 346 8155

From (week ending) Description Hours Rate Amount

1/19 Interim General Manager Consulting Additiobnal Hours 4 140 560

1/26 Interim General Manager Consulting Additiobnal Hours 8 140 1120

2/2 Interim General Manager Consulting Additiobnal Hours 5 140 700

2/9 Interim General Manager Consulting Additiobnal Hours 14 140 1960

General & Professional Liability Insurance
0 0.00 0.00

0.00

TOTAL 31 4,340.00                  

44 of 46



INVOICE FOR SERVICES RENDERED

Number: GURR077a

Date: 3/8/2024

Net: 15

FROM: Christopher Gurr BILL TO:

Address: Highlands Recrational District

1752 Yorktown Road 1851 Lexington Ave.

San Mateo, CA  94402 San Mateo CA 94402

Tel: 650 346 8155

From Description Hours Rate Amount

3/4 Interim General Manager Consulting 0 140 0

3/5 Interim General Manager Consulting 0 140 0

3/6 Interim General Manager Consulting 0 140 0

3/7 Interim General Manager Consulting 4 140 560

3/8 Interim General Manager Consulting 5 140 700

General & Professional Liability 

Insurance

0 0.00 0.00

0.00

TOTAL 9 1,260.00                  

45 of 46



INVOICE FOR SERVICES RENDERED

Number: GURR078a

Date: 3/15/2024

Net: 15

FROM: Christopher Gurr BILL TO:

Address: Highlands Recrational District

1752 Yorktown Road 1851 Lexington Ave.

San Mateo, CA  94402 San Mateo CA 94402

Tel: 650 346 8155

From Description Hours Rate Amount

3/11 Interim General Manager Consulting 0 140 0

3/12 Interim General Manager Consulting 0 140 0

3/13 Interim General Manager Consulting 0 140 0

3/14 Interim General Manager Consulting 6 140 840

3/15 Interim General Manager Consulting 5 140 700

General & Professional Liability 

Insurance

0 0.00 0.00

0.00

TOTAL 11 1,540.00                  

46 of 46


	TOC Board Meeting Packet 20240409
	Binder3.pdf
	1_20240409 Meeting Agenda
	2.a_20240312_Draft_Meeting_Minutes
	2.b_20240324_Strategy Session_Meeting Minutes
	5.1_20240409 GM Report
	5.1.a_20240409 Org chart
	5.2_20240409 ASP Staff Report
	5.3_20240409 Aquatics Report
	5.4_20240409 EEC Report
	5.4.a_EEC Tuition SR 20240321
	5.5_20240409 Seasonal & Rental Report
	6_2024 Mar Financial for BOD Packet
	7.1_20240324 GM Recruiter Contract Memo
	7.2_20240324 By-Position Benefits Recommendations
	8.1_20240409 Out of Class Pay
	8.2_20240424 Christopher Gurr IGM Contract Memo
	4.3.a_Copy of invoice_Gurr073a
	4.3.b_Copy of invoice_Gurr075a
	4.3.c_Copy of invoice_Gurr076a
	4.3.d_Copy of invoice_Gurr077a
	4.3.e_Copy of invoice_Gurr078a




